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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Complainants Infineon Technologies Austria AG (“Infineon Austria”) and Infineon 

Technologies Americas Corp. (“Infineon Americas”) (collectively, “Infineon” or “Complainants”) 

respectfully request that the United States International Trade Commission commence an 

investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 

(“Section 337”) into violations of Section 337 by Innoscience (Suzhou) Technology Company, 

Ltd. (“Innoscience Suzhou”), Innoscience (Suzhou) Semiconductor Co., Ltd. (“Innoscience 

Suzhou Semiconductor”), Innoscience (Zhuhai) Technology Company, Ltd. (“Innoscience 

Zhuhai”), and Innoscience America, Inc. (“Innoscience America”) (collectively “Innoscience” or 

“Respondents”).  

2. This Complaint is based on Innoscience’s unlawful and ongoing importation into 

the United States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale within the United States 

after importation of certain semiconductor devices and products containing the same (“the 

Accused Products”). Innoscience’s Accused Products infringe one or more claims of U.S. Patent 

Nos. 9,899,481 (“the ’481 Patent”), 8,686,562 (“the ’562 Patent”), 9,070,755 (“the ’755 Patent”), 

and 8,264,003 (“the ’003 Patent”) (collectively, the “Asserted Patents”). Certified copies of the 

’481 Patent, ’562 Patent, ’755 Patent, and ’003 Patent are attached as Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4, 

respectfully. Certified copies of the assignment records of the ’481 Patent, ’562 Patent, ’755 

Patent, and ’003 Patent are attached as Exhibits 5, 6, 7, and 8, respectfully. 

3. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.10(b)(1) and 210.12(a)(12), a plain English 

description of the categories of Accused Products are GaN-on-Si semiconductor devices, GaN 

Field Effect Transistors (“FETs”), GaN high electron mobility transistors, GaN high electron 

mobility transistors, and products incorporating such transistors, which are discrete chips, 
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integrated circuits (ICs), wafers, modules, and demo boards. A non-exhaustive list of Accused 

Products is attached hereto as Exhibit 12. 

4. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(vii), a complete listing of the claims 

asserted by Infineon in this Investigation (collectively, the “Asserted Claims”) is shown below, 

with independent claims illustrated in bold: 

Patent Asserted Claims 

’481 Patent 1, 2-4, 6, 9, 17 

’562 Patent 1, 2, 8-10, 13, 14, 15 

’755 Patent 1, 2-4, 8, 9 

’003 Patent 1, 2, 10 

 

5. The Asserted Patents are valid and enforceable. Infineon Austria owns by 

assignment all rights, title, and interest in the ’481 Patent. See Exhibit 5. Infineon Americas owns 

by assignment all rights, title, and interest in the ’562 Patent, the ’755 Patent, and the ’003 Patent. 

See Exhibits 6-8. 

6. Infineon is a world-leading designer and manufacturer of semiconductors, 

including Gallium Nitride (“GaN”) semiconductors and products, used in a variety of electronic 

and microelectronic applications and industries, including computer systems, telecommunication 

systems, consumer electronics and goods, automotive products, industrial automation and control 

systems, and the applications protected by the Asserted Patents. By way of non-limiting example, 

Infineon develops and sells power transistors, which are semiconductor devices used to amplify or 

switch electrical signals and power in a vast array of modern applications. Infineon also develops 

and sells circuits including transistor circuits and integrated circuits incorporating power 
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transistors together with other components. Infineon’s power transistor and circuit products are 

used across the applications and industries discussed herein. 

7. Transistors and integrated circuits are the building blocks of semiconductor 

technology. Power transistors are used as a switch or rectifier in power supplies (or power 

converters), which convert electric voltage and/or current from a source to the correct voltage, 

current, and frequency to power the load (i.e., a device or component). 

8. For many decades, power transistors and circuits were fabricated primarily using 

silicon as the semiconductor material. However, such silicon-based power transistors have 

limitations that are increasingly tested given increasing power density and efficiency requirements 

and environmental pollution regulations trends. Advances in the field are dependent on the 

development of smaller transistors and circuits that allow for higher voltages and power at lower 

resistances. 

9. The basic capability of a semiconductor material is dictated by the mobility of its 

charge carriers such as electrons. A material with high electron mobility offers greater current 

carrying ability, which affords significant benefits in power electronics. Examples of such 

materials include “III-V compounds” such as GaN incorporating an element from Group III of the 

periodic table of elements (such as gallium) and an element from Group V (such as nitrogen).  

10. The exceptionally high electron mobility in a GaN high-electron-mobility transistor 

(“GaN HEMT”) makes GaN a compound semiconductor material that is particularly suitable to 

replace silicon in power transistors to meet the growing needs with better power systems 

efficiency, performance, and system cost. GaN-based transistors can operate at higher voltages, 

frequencies, and temperatures as compared to conventional silicon-based transistors.  
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11. GaN power transistor applications include USB-C adapters and chargers, 48 V 

power distribution, server and telecom SMPS, solar and energy storage systems, motor drives, 

robots and drones, and more. 

12. Infineon has been a world-recognized GaN HEMT innovator and market leader for 

years. In October 2023, Infineon further strengthened its market leading position in power 

semiconductors by acquiring GaN Systems Inc. (“GaN Systems”). GaN Systems brought with it a 

broad portfolio of GaN-based power conversion solutions and leading-edge application know-

how. The GaN transistors and integrated circuits developed by Infineon’s preexisting teams (i.e., 

before the GaN Systems acquisition) and GaN Systems have performance advantages and 

represent significant advances over previous generations of power semiconductors, transistors, and 

circuits. 

13. Infineon employs teams of engineers—including teams in the United States—

involved in the research and development of Infineon’s patented technology covering its power 

semiconductor, transistor, and integrated circuit products, including products utilizing GaN 

technology. Specifically, within the United States, Infineon maintains facilities in El Segundo, 

California, and Chandler, Arizona, at which Infineon engineers engage in research and 

development, testing, and other qualifying activities associated with the Asserted Patents. 

Additional details regarding the specific activities conducted within these facilities are described 

in the Confidential Declaration of Chris Zegarelli. See Exhibit 47C.  

14. Rather than develop its own non-infringing technology, Innoscience has engaged 

in unauthorized activities aimed at replicating Infineon’s patented technology and diverting 

Infineon’s customers away from Infineon and to Innoscience instead. By free-riding on Infineon’s 

research and development, Innoscience competes unfairly and indeed openly touts how it “will 
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surpass anyone on price for an equivalent device.” Exhibit 9. Innoscience has also acknowledged 

targeting “customers in the USA.” Exhibit 9.  

15. For example, the images below demonstrate the similarity between Infineon’s 

Asserted ’481 Patent and an Innoscience product that practices and replicates Infineon’s patented 

technology.  

 

 

16. In fact, in a 2023 presentation at an industry session of the Applied Power 

Electronics Conference (“APEC”) held in Orlando, Florida from March 19 to March 23, 2023, 

Innoscience highlighted the similarities between its product and Infineon’s inventive technology 

in its presentation to the industry. In one slide, Innoscience compared Infineon’s IGLD60R190D1 
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product (shown below on left) with Innoscience’s INN650D190A product (shown below on right). 

Innoscience identified the identical pin layouts for the gate, drain, Kelvin Source, and source. See 

Exhibit 10 at 19.  

 

17. Innoscience explained to the audience, which included target customers such as 

“system engineers/architects and business-oriented people such as purchasing agents” 

(https://www.aconf.org/conf_146150.html), that Innoscience’s products are “pin-to-pin 

compatible” with Infineon’s products in the hope of inducing Infineon customers to switch to 

Innoscience’s Accused Products. See Exhibit 10 at 19. 

 

18. The Accused Products are manufactured abroad in China and are imported into the 

United States by Innoscience, and/or are sold by Innoscience abroad for importation into the 

United States. See, e.g., Exhibits 11-11.2. By importing the Accused Products, which infringe the 



 

7 

Asserted Patents, Innoscience has circumvented the need to invest in expensive research and 

development that would be required to develop its own semiconductor power transistor 

technology, including technology for transistors that use GaN.  

19. Infineon has invested significant and substantial resources into the development of 

a domestic industry relating to articles protected by the Asserted Patents. The protected articles 

include two types of GaN products made by Infineon: the “IG DI Products,” which include at least 

the IGLD60R070D1, IGLD60R190D1, IGLD60R190D1S, IGLR60R190D1, IGLR60R260D1, 

IGLR60R340D1, IGT60R042D1, IGT60R070D1, and IGT60R190D1, and the “GS DI Products,” 

which include at least the GS-065-004-1-L, GS-065-008-1-L, GS-065-011-1-L, GS-065-011-2-L, 

GS-065-018-2-L, and GS-065-030-2-L. Collectively, the IG DI Products and GS DI Products are 

referred to as the “Domestic Industry Products.” The Domestic Industry Products are researched, 

developed, designed, tested, supported, and/or otherwise engineered by Infineon in the United 

States. 

20. Each Asserted Patent has at least one claim that is practiced by the IG DI Products 

and/or the GS DI Products. As required by 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(2) and 1337(a)(3), a domestic 

industry in the United States exists relating to plant, equipment, labor, and capital associated with 

the research, development, and engineering of the Domestic Industry Patents. Further, Infineon 

has made significant investments in the exploitation of the inventions claimed in the Asserted 

Patents, including through research, development, and engineering. 

21. The claims demonstrating the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement 

in this investigation (collectively, the “DI Claims”) include at least the claims shown below, with 

the exemplary independent claims that have been charted in Confidential Exhibits 32C-38C 

illustrated in bold:  
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Patent DI Claims 

’481 Patent 1, 2-4, 6, 9, 17 

’562 Patent 1, 2, 8-11, 13, 14-16 

’755 Patent 1, 2-4, 8, 9 

’003 Patent 1, 2, 10 

 

22. Infineon seeks as relief a permanent limited exclusion order pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 

§ 1337(d) barring from entry into the United States infringing Accused Products, or Accused 

Products that are manufactured abroad, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold in 

the United States after importation by or on behalf of Innoscience, against Innoscience and its 

subsidiaries, affiliates, agents, successors, and assigns, excluding and barring from entry into the 

United States all articles that infringe, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, at least one or 

more claims of each of the Asserted Patents. 

23. Infineon also seeks permanent cease and desist orders pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 

1337(f) prohibiting Respondents and their subsidiaries, affiliates, agents, successors, and assigns 

from engaging in the importation, sale for importation, and/or sale within the United States after 

importation of such articles, offering for sale for importation and/or offer for sale within the United 

States; marketing, distributing, offering for sale, selling, servicing, repairing, warehousing 

inventory of, and transferring the articles within the United States; advertising or demonstrating 

related to such imported articles; soliciting agents, retailers, resellers, or distributors in the United 

States for such articles; or aiding and abetting other entities in the importation, sale for importation, 

sale after importation, transfer, or distribution of such articles. 
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24. Infineon requests that the Commission require an appropriate bond for any 

activities otherwise covered by the limited exclusion order and/or permanent cease and desist 

orders during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j). 

II. THE PARTIES 

A. The Complainants 

25. Complainant Infineon Austria is a corporation organized under the laws of Austria 

having a principal place of business at Siemensstraße 2, A-9500 Villach, Austria. 

26. Complainant Infineon Americas is a corporation organized under the laws of the 

State of Delaware, having its principal place of business at 101 North Pacific Coast Highway, El 

Segundo, California 90245.  

B. The Respondents 

27. On information and belief, Respondent Innoscience Suzhou is a Chinese 

corporation that has its principal place of business and headquarters at No. 98, Xinli Road, Lili 

Town, Wujiang District Suzhou, Jiangsu, 215000 China. On information and belief, Innoscience 

Suzhou is the parent company to subsidiaries Innoscience Suzhou Semiconductor, Innoscience 

Zhuhai, and Innoscience America.  

28. On information and belief, Respondent Innoscience Suzhou Semiconductor is a 

Chinese corporation that has a principal place of business and headquarters at No. 98, Xinli Road, 

Lili Town, Wujiang District Suzhou, Jiangsu, 215000 China. 

29. On information and belief, Respondent Innoscience Zhuhai is a Chinese 

corporation that has a principal place of business and headquarters at No. 39, Jinyuan 2nd Road, 

High-Tech Zone, Zhuhai, Guangdong, 519099 China. 

30. On information and belief, Respondent Innoscience America, Inc. is a California 

corporation that has its principal place of business at 5451 Great America Parkway, Suite 125, 

Santa Clara, California 95054. 
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III. THE ASSERTED PATENTS AND NON-TECHNICAL DESCRIPTIONS 

A. The ’481 Patent 

1. Identification of Patent and Ownership 

31. On February 20, 2018, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) 

duly and legally issued the ’481 Patent, entitled “Electronic Component and Switch Circuit.” The 

’481 Patent names Ralf Otremba and Klaus Schiess as inventors. The ’481 Patent issued from U.S. 

Application Serial No. 14/997,914, filed on January 18, 2016. The ’481 Patent expires on January 

18, 2036. A true, correct, and certified copy of the ’481 Patent is attached as Exhibit 1.  

32. Complainant Infineon Austria is the assignee and owner of all right, title, and 

interest in and to the ’481 Patent following an assignment from the named inventors. A true, 

correct, and certified copy of the assignment history for the ’481 Patent is attached as Exhibit 5.  

33. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12, the Complaint is accompanied by: (1) a true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’481 Patent (Exhibit 1); (2) a true, correct, and certified copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’481 Patent (Appendix A); (3) a copy of each reference cited therein 

(Appendix B); and (4) a true, correct, and certified copy of the recorded assignment from the 

inventors of the ’481 Patent (Exhibit 5). 

34. Any description of the ’481 Patent herein is provided solely for compliance with 

the Commission Rules, and is not intended to limit, define, or otherwise affect the scope, 

construction, and/or application of the ’481 Patent’s language. 

2. Non-Technical Description of the ’481 Patent  

35. The ’481 Patent relates generally to semiconductor device packaging technology 

suitable for use with GaN devices. A package for a semiconductor device includes internal 

electrical connections from the semiconductor device to a substrate or a leadframe including outer 



 

11 

contacts. The outer contacts are used to mount the electronic component on a redistribution board, 

such as a printed circuit board.  

36. While compound semiconductor devices such as GaN devices have emerged as 

attractive candidates for power applications to carry large currents, support high voltages, and to 

provide very low on-resistance and fast switching times, the high voltages and fast switching times 

of such devices result in additional challenges for package development. For example, high 

switching speeds of a transistor device can result in a voltage drop across a parasitic source 

inductance, which may result in increased energy loss. 

37. The ’481 Patent generally describes a compound semiconductor transistor such as 

a lateral HEMT housed within a surface mountable device (SMD) package that can provide a 

source sense functionality by using a separate connection to the source, which can exclude the 

parasitic source inductance that could result in increased energy loss at high switching speeds.  

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’481 Patent 

38. As required under Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the following table lists all of 

the foreign counterpart patents and applications for the ’481 Patent that have been filed, issued, 

denied, abandoned, or withdrawn.  

Jurisdiction Patent/Application No. Status 

Germany DE102017100947 Active 

Germany DE102017012537.6 Active 

Germany DE202017007691 Active 
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B. The ’562 Patent 

1. Identification of Patent and Ownership 

39. On April 1, 2014, the USPTO duly and legally issued the ’562 Patent, entitled 

“Refractory Metal Nitride Capped Electrical Contact and Method for Frabricating [sic]1 Same.” 

The ’562 Patent names Sadiki Jordan as inventor. The ’562 Patent issued from U.S. Application 

Serial No. 12/583,809 (“the ’809 Application”), filed on August 25, 2009. The ’562 Patent expires 

on April 19, 2030. A true, correct, and certified copy of the ’562 Patent is attached as Exhibit 2.  

40. Complainant Infineon Americas is the assignee and owner of all right, title, and 

interest in and to the ’562 Patent following an assignment from the named inventor. A true, correct, 

and certified copy of the assignment history for the ’562 Patent is attached as Exhibit 6.  

41. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12, the Complaint is accompanied by: (1) a true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’562 Patent (Exhibit 2); (2) a true, correct, and certified copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’562 Patent (Appendix C); (3) a copy of each reference cited therein 

(Appendix D); and (4) a true, correct, and certified copy of the recorded assignment from the 

inventor of the ’562 Patent (Exhibit 6). 

42. Any description of the ’562 Patent herein is provided solely for compliance with 

the Commission Rules, and is not intended to limit, define, or otherwise affect the scope, 

construction, and/or application of the ’562 Patent’s language. 

2. Non-Technical Description of the ’562 Patent 

43. The ’562 Patent relates to an electrical contact for use on a semiconductor device, 

such as a GaN power transistor or other semiconductor power device fabricated using at least one 

 
1 The USPTO apparently introduced a typographical error in the patent as issued. The ’809 
Application as filed was entitled “Refractory Metal Nitride Capped Electrical Contact and 
Method for Fabricating Same.” 
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group III element (such as Ga) and one group V element (such as nitrogen) (“III-V power 

semiconductor devices”) and facilitating compatibility and integration with traditional group IV 

semiconductor devices such as those fabricated using silicon.  

44. III-V power semiconductor device typically includes electrical contacts having a 

low contact resistivity. In conventional approaches, electrical contacts on III-V power 

semiconductors devices utilized gold to form a capping layer of an electrode stack—for example, 

a stack comprising pure films of titanium, aluminum, and nickel, capped with gold. However, there 

are disadvantages to using gold as a capping layer—including gold’s high cost and propensity to 

contaminate a silicon fabrication process flow by diffusion through the electrode stack. Such 

propensity makes it difficult to integrate III-V power semiconductor devices with convention 

group IV semiconductor devices fabricated using silicon. 

45. The ’562 Patent generally describes a novel refractory metal nitride capped 

electrical contact that provides advantages over the conventional art, including improved cost 

effectiveness and easier, more efficient integration of group III-V power semiconductor devices 

and silicon devices.  

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’562 Patent 

46. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Infineon states that to the best of its 

present knowledge, information, and belief there are no foreign patents or foreign patent 

applications (whether issued, pending, abandoned, withdrawn, or rejected) corresponding to the 

’562 Patent.  
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C. The ’755 Patent 

1. Identification of Patent and Ownership 

47. On June 30, 2015, the USPTO duly and legally issued the ’755 Patent, entitled 

“Transistor Having Elevated Drain Finger Termination.” The ’755 Patent names Michael A. 

Briere and Reenu Garg as inventors. The ’755 Patent issued from U.S. Application Serial No. 

13/941,335 filed on July 12, 2013. The ’755 Patent further claims priority under 35 U.S.C. § 120 

to U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 13/749,477 (filed on January 24, 2013) and under 35 U.S.C. 

§ 119 to U.S. Provisional Patent Application Serial Nos. 61/674,553 (filed on July 23, 2012) and 

61/600,469 (filed on February 17, 2012). The ’755 Patent expires on January 28, 2033. A true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’755 Patent is attached as Exhibit 3.  

48. Complainant Infineon Americas is the assignee and owner of all right, title, and 

interest in and to the ’755 Patent following an assignment from the named inventors. A true, 

correct, and certified copy of the assignment history for the ’755 Patent is attached as Exhibit 7.  

49. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12, the Complaint is accompanied by: (1) a true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’755 Patent (Exhibit 3); (2) a true, correct, and certified copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’755 Patent (Appendix E); a copy of each reference cited therein 

(Appendix F); and (4) a true, correct, and certified copy of the recorded assignment from the 

inventor of the ’755 Patent (Exhibit 7). 

50. Any description of the ’755 Patent herein is provided solely for compliance with 

the Commission Rules, and is not intended to limit, define, or otherwise affect the scope, 

construction, and/or application of the ’755 Patent’s language. 

2. Non-Technical Description of the ’755 Patent 

51. To satisfy the increasing power requirements for high voltage power transistors, 

such transistors must be fabricated with a higher unit cell density with smaller separations (half-
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pitch) between interdigitated source and drain finger electrodes. However, due to high termination 

electric fields typically present at the drain finger electrode ends, the electrode spacing at the drain 

finger electrode ends of higher density power transistors may be insufficient to reliably sustain a 

high breakdown voltage. As a result, transistors may break down, become unstable, and/or fail 

catastrophically under high voltage operation.  

52. The ’755 Patent generally describes implementations of a drain finger electrode in 

a power transistor adapted for high termination electric fields, for example by using a drain finger 

electrode that has at least a portion of drain finger electrode end that is non-coplanar with the drain 

finger electrode main body. As a result, an increased breakdown voltage can be achieved while 

concurrently maintaining a low specific on-resistance through a shorter source-to-drain half pitch.  

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’755 Patent 

53. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Infineon states that to the best of its 

present knowledge, information, and belief there are no foreign patents or foreign patent 

applications (whether issued, pending, abandoned, withdrawn, or rejected) corresponding to the 

’755 Patent. However, Infineon notes that related U.S. Patent No. 9,379,231 (from which the ’755 

Patent descends as a continuation-in-part) has foreign counterparts EP2529332B1 and 

JP5722931B2. 

D. The ’003 Patent 

1. Identification of Patent and Ownership 

54. On September 11, 2012, the USPTO duly and legally issued the ’003 Patent, 

entitled “Merged Cascode Transistor.” The ’003 Patent names Thomas Herman as inventor. The 

’003 Patent issued from U.S. Application Serial No. 11/688,338 filed on March 20, 2007. The ’003 

Patent further claims priority under 35 U.S.C. § 119 to U.S. Provisional Patent Application Serial 
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No. 60/783,934 filed on March 20, 2006. The ’003 Patent expires on March 20, 2027. A true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’003 Patent is attached as Exhibit 4.  

55. Complainant Infineon Americas is the assignee and owner of all right, title, and 

interest in and to the ’003 Patent following an assignment from the named inventor. A true, correct, 

and certified copy of the assignment history for the ’003 Patent is attached as Exhibit 8.  

56. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12, the Complaint is accompanied by: (1) a true, 

correct, and certified copy of the ’003 Patent (Exhibit 4); (2) a true, correct, and certified copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’003 Patent (Appendix G); a copy of each reference cited therein 

(Appendix H); and (4) a true, correct, and certified copy of the recorded assignment from the 

inventor of the ’003 Patent (Exhibit 8). 

57. Any description of the ’003 Patent herein is provided solely for compliance with 

the Commission Rules, and is not intended to limit, define, or otherwise affect the scope, 

construction, and/or application of the ’003 Patent’s language. 

2. Non-Technical Description of the ’003 Patent 

58. The ’003 Patent relates to a transistor with a gate (G) that is used to control current 

flowing between a drain (D) and a source (S). It addresses challenges that can arise when 

conventional transistors are used in high voltage and/or high speed switching applications. First, 

large peak drain voltage (Vd) swings during switching creates a large “Miller effect” that causes 

excessive switching losses. Second, a high transient dVd/dt when the drain voltage changes rapidly 

may result in a voltage transient in a gate voltage Vg that can briefly turn on the transistor when it 

is intended to be off. This unwanted period of conduction, sometimes referred to as a “shoot 

through,” may result in large power and efficiency losses. 

59. The ’003 Patent generally describes a merged cascode transistor used in a transistor 

circuit that can address these problems. In one embodiment, the transistor is a single device that 
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includes a bottom portion Q1 and a top portion Q2 in series in a cascode geometry, as illustrated 

in Figs. 2 and 3 (reproduced below). Q1’s drain (D1) and Q2’s source (S2) are merged in a node 

d1s2 (represented by the arrow 39 in Fig. 3) in a semiconductor element 29 and between Q1 and 

Q2. In the transistor circuit for this example, the input to the transistor is connected to the gate of 

Q1 (Vg1), while both the gate of Q2 (Vg2) and source of Q1 (Vs1) are connected to a common 

voltage of 0 volt. In this example, Q1 is an enhancement mode transistor that is normally off, Q2 

is a depletion mode transistor that is normally on, such that when an input Vg1 is provided to control 

Q1 to turn off, Q2 will also become off to block the high voltage at the drain Vd2 from reaching 

Q1. As a result, even though Vd2 may have a peak value of hundreds of volts, Q1’s drain, which is 

at the node Vd1s2, is substantially reduced to a swing of only a few volts during switching. As a 

result, the transistor is more efficient and less susceptible to overall power losses.  

 

Fig. 2 of the ’003 Patent. 
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Fig. 3 of the ’003 Patent. 

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’003 Patent 

60. As required under Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the following table lists all of 

the foreign counterpart patents and applications for the ’003 Patent that have been filed, issued, 

denied, abandoned, or withdrawn.  

Jurisdiction Patent/Application No. Status 

Germany DE112007000667.6 Inactive (withdrawn) 

Japan JP2009530862 Denied  

WIPO PCT/US07/06983 Inactive (withdrawn) 

  

61. For avoidance of doubt, the foregoing identification of specific models or products 

is not intended to limit the scope of the investigation. The Commission’s investigation and any 

remedy should extend to all of Respondents’ infringing products.  
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IV. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF IMPORTATION BY RESPONDENTS 
CONSTITUTING UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS 

62. Upon information and belief, Respondents are engaged in the unlawful importation 

into the United States, sale for importation, and/or sale within the United States after importation 

of certain semiconductor devices and products containing the same that infringe at least the 

Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents. These activities constitute a violation of Section 337.  

63. Specific examples of infringing products imported into and sold within the United 

States by or on behalf of Respondents are set forth below in Section V in detail. Pursuant to 

Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii), Infineon provides infringement claim charts for each 

Asserted Patent that apply each asserted independent claim to a “representative” Accused Product. 

Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(x), photographs of representative Accused Products 

are included in the Declaration of Robert V. White. See Exhibit 11. 

64. As reflected in Mr. White’s declaration, he purchased and obtained Innoscience 

products through RichardsonRFPD. Mr. White received packages originating from 

RichardsonRFPD in Hong Kong as reflected in the packages and shipping labels themselves: 
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65. As reflected in a 2022 press release, Innoscience has “a global distribution 

agreement with Richardson RFPD.” Exhibit 56. 

66. Innoscience’s website identifies Innoscience’s “Authorized Distributors,” which 

include “Richardson RFPD.” Exhibit 57.  

67. Richardson RFPD’s website identifies Innoscience as a supplier of the Innoscience 

products. Exhibit 58. 

68. Richardson RFPD’s website identifies and lists numerous Accused Products for 

sale online in the United States. Exhibit 59.  

69. The Declaration of Robert V. White, attached as Exhibit 11, provides additional 

detail regarding specific instances of importation of such products—including the 

INN650D080BS, INN650DA190A, INN100W032A, and ISG3201.  

70. The accused Innoscience INN650D080BS has been imported into the United 

States, sold outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after 

importation in the United States by Respondents. See Exhibit 11 (Declaration of Robert V. White 

regarding importation). As detailed in infra Sections V.A-B and accompanying Exhibits 13 and 
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15, the accused Innoscience INN650D080BS is covered by at least by the ’481 Patent (including 

at least claims 1 and 17) and the’562 Patent (including at least claims 1 and 13). 

71. The accused Innoscience INN650DA190A has been imported into the United 

States, sold outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after 

importation in the United States by Respondents. See Exhibit 11 (Declaration of Robert V. White 

regarding importation). As detailed in infra Section V.A and accompanying Exhibit 14, the 

accused Innoscience INN650DA190A is covered by at least claims 1 and 17 of the ’481 Patent. 

72. The accused Innoscience INN100W032A has been imported into the United States, 

sold outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation 

in the United States by Respondents. See Exhibit 11 (Declaration of Robert V. White regarding 

importation); see also Exhibit 48, 50-53 (Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Complaint (May 24, 2023) ¶¶ 14, 

59 and Exhibits 32-35). As detailed in infra Section V.C and accompanying Exhibit 16, the accused 

Innoscience INN100W032A is covered by at least claim 1 of the ’755 Patent. 

73. The accused ISG3201 has been imported into the United States, sold outside the 

United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United 

States by Respondents. See Exhibit 11 (Declaration of Robert V. White regarding importation). 

As detailed in infra Section V.D and accompanying Exhibit 17, the accused Innoscience ISG3201 

is covered by at least claims 1 and 10 of the ’003 Patent. 

74. Additional Accused Products have also been imported into the United States, sold 

outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in 

the United States by Respondents. Non-limiting examples of such Accused Products include the 

following part numbers between March and May of 2024: INN650D190A, INN040W048A, 

INNDDD150A1, INNEHB100B1, INNEHB040A1, INNEHB150B1, INN150LA070A, 
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INN100W14, INN040LA015A, INN650D140A, INN650DA240A, INN650DA500A, 

INN650DA350A, INN650DA600A, INN650DA140A, and INN650D240A. See Exhibit 11, ¶¶10, 

18 (Declaration of Robert V. White concerning importation and discussing receipt of Accused 

Products from Innoscience via Richardson RFPD). 

75. Recently, Innoscience’s GaN transistor products were the target of ITC 

Investigation No. 337-TA-1366. See Exhibit 48 (Certain Semiconductor Devices, and Methods of 

Manufacturing Same and Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Complaint (May 

24, 2023)). In that Complaint, Complainant Efficient Power Corporation demonstrated importation 

of representative accused product with a declaration submitted by one of their Expert Witnesses, 

Dr. Fred Schubert. See id., Exhibit No 25 (Schubert Declaration). Dr. Schubert’s Declaration is 

attached as Exhibit 49. 

76. Specifically, Dr. Schubert ordered a variety of GaN products directly from 

Innoscience America, Inc., including the Innoscience INN650D080BS and INN100W032A—

which are Accused Products identified herein and the subject of claim charts provided pursuant to 

Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii). Schubert Declaration at ¶5, 10. As the Complaint in the 1366 

Investigation and Dr. Schubert’s accompanying Declaration describe, Dr. Schubert interacted with 

an Innoscience America representative who helped arrange shipment of the products from 

Shenzhen City, China from Innoscience Zhuhai to his residence in Troy, New York. Id. 

77. As noted by Commission Staff in their pre-hearing brief, Innoscience did not 

contest importation as to any of the products accused of infringement in the 1366 Investigation. 

See Exhibit 54 (Certain Semiconductor Devices, and Methods of Manufacturing Same and 

Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Staff’s Pre-Hearing Brief, 15 (February 9, 
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2024) (“Moreover, Innoscience does not contest that the importation requirement of Section 337 

is satisfied.”)). 

78. In addition, in the evidentiary hearing in the 1366 Investigation, the Founder and 

Chair of Innoscience, Dr. Wei Wei Luo, confirmed that Innoscience manufactures its products 

entirely in two fabrication plants in Zhuhai and Suzhou, China prior to importation into the United 

States. Exhibit 24 (ITC Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Evidentiary Hearing transcript, Opening Statement 

of Respondent Innoscience, 24:12-13) (“Innoscience makes all of its own chips.”); Exhibit 55 (ITC 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Evidentiary Hearing transcript, Dr. Wei Wei Luo, Innoscience Founder, 

Chairwoman, 721:22-722:8 (Innoscience has two fabrication facilities); see Exhibit 63. 

79. Dr. Luo also explained that Innoscience America manages sales of the Accused 

Products in the United States. Exhibit 55 (ITC Inv. No. 337-TA-1366, Evidentiary Hearing 

transcript, Dr. Wei Wei Luo, Innoscience Founder, Chairwoman, 729:12-729:20) (“[Innoscience 

America is] also a child company of Innoscience Suzhou … [i]t’s the sales offices of Innoscience 

Suzhou.”).  

80. In addition, Innoscience has plainly advertised its United States presence and 

marketed and sold its products within the United States.  

81. For instance, Innoscience attended the IEEE Applied Power Electronics 

Conference (“APEC 2023”) from March 19-23, which was held in Orlando, Florida. APEC is an 

annual North American trade show and has been held in the United States for the last ten years. 

Innoscience maintained a booth at APEC 2023 which included virtual display boards, flyers, and 

physical samples of Innoscience products, which “showcased [Innoscience’s] silicon-based GaN 

wafers and GaN chips ranging from 30V to 700V for high, medium and low voltage applications.” 

See Exhibit 60.  
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Photograph from Exhibit 60 Demonstrating Innoscience APEC 2023 Booth 

82. Innoscience also attended APEC 2024, that was held from February 25-29, 2024 

(“APEC 2024”) in Long Beach, CA, where Innoscience had a similar corporate booth. See Exhibit 

62 at 119. Innoscience’s booth at APEC 2024 included at least: a virtual display board, handout 

flyers, a poster board with attached physical products, and a display case that displayed physical 

samples of several Innoscience products. A web article advertising Innoscience’s attendance and 

presentations given at APEC 2024 is attached as Exhibit 61. A copy of the APEC 2024 event 

program, with exhibitor listings, is attached as Exhibit 62. 

83. As discussed in Section I, Innoscience has explicitly touted its products’ “pin-to-

pin compatibility” with Infineon products in an attempt to lure Infineon customers from Infineon 

to Innoscience. See supra Section I.  
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84. Infineon expects further discovery to reveal other specific acts of Respondents’ 

importation, sale for importation, and/or sale after importation of Accused Products that infringe 

the Asserted Patents, including, but not limited to, additional models of the Accused Products.  

V. RESPONDENT’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ASSERTED PATENTS 

85. As noted above and set forth in further detail herein, the Accused Products infringe 

at least the following claims of the Asserted Patents: 

Patent Asserted Claims 

’481 Patent 1, 2-4, 6, 9, 17 

’562 Patent 1, 2, 8-10, 13, 14, 15 

’755 Patent 1, 2-4, 8, 9 

’003 Patent 1, 2, 10 

 

86. More specifically, Respondents directly infringe the Asserted Claims in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents; induce the infringement of these 

claims in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b); and/or contributorily infringe these claims in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). Respondents infringe these claims by importing, selling for importation, 

and/or selling after importation into the United States the Accused Products in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271. Discovery may reveal that Respondents infringe additional claims of the Asserted 

Patents, in which case the Complainant may seek leave to amend this Complaint to assert such 

claims. 

87. On information and belief, Respondents manufacture, assemble, package, test, 

and/or purchase the Accused Products outside the United States, specifically within China. On 

information and belief, Respondents then import, sell for importation, and/or sell within the United 
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States after importation the Accused Products. In particular, on information and belief, the 

representative Accused Products discussed in supra Section V and further detailed below are 

representative of other Innoscience products imported into the United States, sold for importation 

into the United States, and/or sold within the United States after importation by the Respondents 

given that such other devices incorporate the same or substantially similar infringing designs, 

features, and/or functionalities.  

A. The ’481 Patent 

88. As demonstrated herein, Respondents import, sell for importation, and/or sell after 

importation into the United States, Accused Products satisfying all limitations of at least the 

Asserted Claims of the ’481 Patent, whether literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

Accordingly, Respondents have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe the Asserted 

Claims of the ’481 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).  

89. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii), claim charts comparing 

independent claims 1 and 17 of the ’481 Patent to representative Accused Products (including 

INN650D080BS and INN650DA190A) are attached as Exhibits 13 and 14. Both INN650D080BS 

and INN650DA190A are among the representative Accused Products that Infineon’s consultant 

obtained after they were imported into the United States, sold outside the United States for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United States by 

Respondents. See supra Section IV,  

90. On information and belief, other Accused Products are similar in relevant respect 

to INN650D080BS and INN650DA190A (including a lateral transistor device and having source 

sensing functionality) and infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’481 Patent for the same reasons 

reflected in Exhibits 13 and 14.  
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91. In addition, Respondents have indirectly infringed and continue to indirectly 

infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’481 Patent by inducing infringement. Specifically, 

Respondents have actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced, and continue to actively, 

knowingly, and intentionally induce direct infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’481 Patent 

by customers, distributors, and/or end users by among other things, selling for importation, 

importing into the United States, and/or selling within the United States after importation the 

Accused Products, as well as by contracting with others to offer to sell, sell for importation, sell 

within the United States after importation, and/or import into the United States the Accused 

Products. 

92. Respondents engage in these unlawful acts with knowledge of the ’481 Patent, at 

least as of March 13, 2024, the date the complaint was filed in Infineon Technologies Austria AG 

v. Innoscience (Suzhou) Technology Company, Ltd., et al. (N.D. Cal. Case No. 3:24-cv-01553, the 

“N.D. Cal. District Court Case”), with knowledge and/or willful blindness that their actions will 

induce infringement by Respondents’ customers, distributors, and/or end users; and with the 

knowledge and intent to encourage and facilitate infringing sales and uses of the Accused Products 

through, inter alia, the creation and dissemination of promotional and marketing materials, 

instructional materials, product manuals, and technical materials related to the Accused Products 

(see, e.g., Exs. 10, 60-61, and 64-66), and offering support and technical assistance to its 

customers.  

93. In addition, on July 23, 2024, Respondents were served with an amended complaint 

in the District Court case including claim charts substantially identical to Exhibits 13 and 14 herein 

and thus providing further detail concerning why the Accused Products—including 
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INN650D080BS and INN650DA190A—directly infringes claims 1 and 17 of the ’481 Patent.2 

Respondents also have knowledge and notice of the ‘481 Patent at least as of the date of this 

Complaint, which has also put Respondents on notice of why the Accused Products (including 

Innoscience’s INN650D080BS and INN650DA190A) directly infringe claims 1 and 17 of the ’481 

Patent. 

B. The ’562 Patent 

94. As demonstrated herein, Respondents import, sell for importation, and/or sell after 

importation into the United States, Accused Products satisfying all limitations of at least the 

Asserted Claims of the ’562 Patent, whether literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

Accordingly, Respondents have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe the Asserted 

Claims of the ’562 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).  

95. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii), a claim chart comparing 

independent claims 1 and 13 of the ’562 Patent to a representative Accused Product 

(INN650D080BS) is attached as Exhibit 15. The INN650D080BS is among the representative 

Accused Products that Infineon’s consultant obtained after they were imported into the United 

States, sold outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after 

importation in the United States by Respondents. See supra Section IV. 

96. On information and belief, other Accused Products are similar in relevant respect 

to INN650D080BS (including a electrode stack including a titanium nitride (TiN) capping layer) 

and infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’562 Patent for the same reasons reflected in Exhibit 15. 

 
2 Innoscience (Suzhou) Semiconductor Co., Ltd. is not a defendant in the District Court case but 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Innoscience Suzhou, which is a defendant in the District Court 
case and was served with the amended complaint.   
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97. In addition, Respondents have indirectly infringed and continue to indirectly 

infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’562 Patent by inducing infringement. Specifically, 

Respondents have actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced, and continue to actively, 

knowingly, and intentionally induce direct infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’562 Patent 

by customers, distributors, and/or end users by among other things, selling for importation, 

importing into the United States, and/or selling within the United States after importation the 

Accused Products, as well as by contracting with others to offer to sell, sell for importation, sell 

within the United States after importation, and/or import into the United States the Accused 

Products. 

98. Respondents engage in these unlawful acts with knowledge of the ’562 Patent, at 

least as of July 23, 2024, the date the amended complaint was filed and served in the N.D. Cal. 

District Court Case, with knowledge and/or willful blindness that their actions will induce 

infringement by Respondents’ customers, distributors, and/or end users; and with the knowledge 

and intent to encourage and facilitate infringing sales and uses of the Accused Products through, 

inter alia, the creation and dissemination of promotional and marketing materials, instructional 

materials, product manuals, and technical materials related to the Accused Products (see, e.g., Exs. 

10, 60-61, and 64-66), and offering support and technical assistance to its customers.  

99. The amended complaint served on July 23, 2024, included Exhibit 9, which is 

substantively identical to Exhibit 15 herein and which accordingly provided detailed notice 

concerning the particular reasons why Innoscience’s INN650D080BS directly infringes claims 1 

and 13 of the ’562 Patent. Respondents also have knowledge and notice of the ‘562 Patent at least 

as of the date of this Complaint, which has also put Respondents on notice of why the Accused 
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Products (including Innoscience’s INN650D080BS) directly infringe claims 1 and 13 of the ’562 

Patent. 

C. The ’755 Patent 

100. As demonstrated herein, Respondents import, sell for importation, and/or sell after 

importation into the United States, Accused Products satisfying all limitations of at least the 

Asserted Claims of the ’755 Patent, whether literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

Accordingly, Respondents have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe the Asserted 

Claims of the ’755 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).  

101. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii), a claim chart comparing 

independent claim 1 of the ’755 Patent to a representative Accused Product (INN100W032A) is 

attached as Exhibit 16. The INN100W032A was among the Innoscience representative Accused 

Products that Infineon’s consultant obtained after they were imported into the United States, sold 

outside the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in 

the United States by Respondents. See supra Section IV. 

102. On information and belief, other Accused Products are similar in relevant respect 

to INN100W032A (including a drain finger electrode having a drain finger electrode end that has 

a portion non-coplanar with a drain finger electrode main body) and infringe the Asserted Claims 

of the ’755 Patent for the same reasons reflected in Exhibit 16. 

103. In addition, Respondents have indirectly infringed and continue to indirectly 

infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’755 Patent by inducing infringement. Specifically, 

Respondents have actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced, and continue to actively, 

knowingly, and intentionally induce direct infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’755 Patent 

by customers, distributors, and/or end users by among other things, selling for importation, 

importing into the United States, and/or selling within the United States after importation the 
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Accused Products, as well as by contracting with others to offer to sell, sell for importation, sell 

within the United States after importation, and/or import into the United States the Accused 

Products. 

104. Respondents engage in these unlawful acts with knowledge of the ’755 Patent, at 

least as of July 23, 2024, the date the amended complaint was filed in the N.D. Cal. District Court 

Case, with knowledge and/or willful blindness that their actions will induce infringement by 

Respondents’ customers, distributors, and/or end users; and with the knowledge and intent to 

encourage and facilitate infringing sales and uses of the Accused Products through, inter alia, the 

creation and dissemination of promotional and marketing materials, instructional materials, 

product manuals, and technical materials related to the Accused Products (see, e.g., Exs. 10, 60-

61, and 64-66), and offering support and technical assistance to its customers.  

105. The amended complaint served on July 23, 2024 included Exhibit 10, which is 

substantially identical to Exhibit 16 herein and which accordingly provided detailed notice 

concerning the particular reasons why Innoscience’s INN100W032A directly infringes claim 1 of 

the ’755 Patent. Respondents also have knowledge and notice of the ‘755 Patent at least as of the 

date of this Complaint, which has also put Respondents on notice of why the Accused Products 

(including Innoscience’s INN100W032A) directly infringe claim 1 of the ’755 Patent. 

D. The ’003 Patent 

106. As demonstrated herein, Respondents import, sell for importation, and/or sell after 

importation into the United States, Accused Products satisfying all limitations of at least the 

Asserted Claims of the ’003 Patent, whether literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. 

Accordingly, Respondents have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe the Asserted 

Claims of the ’003 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).  



 

35 

107. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii), a claim chart comparing 

independent claims 1 and 10 of the ’003 Patent to a representative Accused Product (ISG3201) is 

attached as Exhibit 17. The ISG3201 is among the Innoscience representative Accused Products 

that Infineon’s consultant obtained after they were imported into the United States, sold outside 

the United States for importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United 

States by Respondents. See supra Section IV. 

108. On information and belief, other Accused Products are similar in relevant respect 

to ISG3201 (including a transistor circuit having a transistor in a merged cascode geometry and 

with a source-connected second gate that includes a field plate) and infringe the Asserted Claims 

of the ’003 Patent for the same reasons reflected in Exhibit 17. 

109. In addition, Respondents have indirectly infringed and continue to indirectly 

infringe the Asserted Claims of the ’003 Patent by inducing infringement. Specifically, 

Respondents have actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced, and continue to actively, 

knowingly, and intentionally induce direct infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’003 Patent 

by customers, distributors, and/or end users by among other things, selling for importation, 

importing into the United States, and/or selling within the United States after importation the 

Accused Products, as well as by contracting with others to offer to sell, sell for importation, sell 

within the United States after importation, and/or import into the United States the Accused 

Products. 

110. Respondents engage in these unlawful acts with knowledge of the ’003 Patent, at 

least as of July 23, 2024, the date the amended complaint was filed in the N.D. Cal. District Court 

Case, with knowledge and/or willful blindness that their actions will induce infringement by 

Respondents’ customers, distributors, and/or end users; and with the knowledge and intent to 
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encourage and facilitate infringing sales and uses of the Accused Products through, inter alia, the 

creation and dissemination of promotional and marketing materials, instructional materials, 

product manuals, and technical materials related to the Accused Products (see, e.g., Exs. 10, 60-

61, and 64-66), and offering support and technical assistance to its customers.  

111. The amended complaint served on July 23, 2024 included Exhibit 11, which is 

substantially identical to Exhibit 17 herein and which accordingly provided detailed notice 

concerning the particular reasons why Innoscience’s ISG3201 directly infringes claims 1 and 10 

of the ’003 Patent. Respondents also have knowledge and notice of the ‘003 Patent at least as of 

the date of this Complaint, which has also put Respondents on notice of why the Accused Products 

(including Innoscience’s ISG3201) directly infringe claims 1 and 10 of the ’003 Patent. 

VI. CLASSIFICATION OF THE INFRINGING PRODUCTS UNDER THE 
HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE 

112. On information and belief, the Accused Products may be classified under at least 

the following heading and subheading of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) of the United 

States: 8541.21.00 (Transistors, other than photosensitive transistors); 8541.50.00 (Other 

semiconductor devices); 8542.31.00 (Processors and controllers, whether or not combined with 

memories, converters, logic circuits, amplifiers, clock and timing circuits, or other circuits); 

8541.29.0095 (Transistors Other Than Photosensitive, Dissipation Rate 1W And Greater, 

Operating Frequency Less Than 30 Mhz); and related subheadings of the HTS. 

113. This classification is exemplary in nature and not intended to restrict the scope of 

this Investigation or any exclusion order or other remedy ordered by the Commission.  
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VII. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY RELATING TO THE DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 
PRODUCTS AND ASSERTED PATENTS  

114. An industry as required by 19 U.S.C. 1337(a)(2) and defined in U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3) 

exists or is in the process of being established in the United States relating to the Asserted Patents 

and articles protected by the Asserted Patents. 

A. Infineon’s Domestic Industry Products Practice the Asserted Patents 
(Technical Prong) 

115. The Asserted Patents are critical to Infineon’s success in the market for power 

transistors, and Infineon’s patented technology is therefore widely incorporated into Infineon’s 

GaN products, including Infineon’s IG and GS GaN transistor products. 

116. For example, at least the following Infineon IG Transistor Products (the “IG DI 

Products”) practice one or more claims of the Asserted Patents: 

IG DI Products 

IGLD60R070D1  

IGLD60R190D1 

IGLD60R190D1S 

IGLR60R190D1 

IGLR60R260D1 

IGLR60R340D1 

IGT60R042D1 

IGT60R070D1 

IGT60R190D1 
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117. Further, at least the following Infineon GS Transistor Products (the “GS DI 

Products”) practice one or more claims of the Asserted Patents. 

GS DI Products 

GS-065-004-1-L  

GS-065-008-1-L 

GS-065-011-1-L 

GS-065-011-2-L 

GS-065-018-2-L 

GS-065-030-2-L 

 

118. Collectively, the IG and GS DI Products represent the “Domestic Industry 

Products.” 

119. Exemplary claim charts demonstrating how a representative Domestic Industry 

Product practices at least one exemplary claim of each of the Asserted Patents are attached as 

Confidential Exhibits 32C-38C. The claims of the Asserted Patents being practiced by the 

Domestic Industry Products includes, but are not limited to the claims summarized in the following 

table: 

U.S. Patent No. Domestic Industry Claims Practicing DI Products 

’481 Patent 1, 2-4, 6, 9, 17 IG DI Products 

GS DI Products 

’562 Patent 1, 2, 8-11, 13, 14-16 GS DI Products 

’755 Patent 1, 2-4, 8, 9 IG DI Products 

GS DI Products 
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’003 Patent 1, 2, 10 IG DI Products 

GS DI Products 

 

B. Infineon’s Investments in the United States Relating to the Domestic 
Industry Products (Economic Prong) 

120. With respect to each of the Asserted Patents, a domestic industry in the United 

States exists as defined by 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(2) and (a)(3)(A)-(C), comprising significant 

investments in physical operations, employment of labor and capital, and substantial exploitation 

of each of the Asserted Patents through engineering and research and development. A domestic 

industry exists based at least on Infineon Americas’ domestic activities, as well as activities 

conducted by GaN Systems prior to the acquisition.  

121. Pursuant to Section 337(a)(2) and (a)(3)(A)-(C), a domestic industry exists with 

respect to articles protected by each of the Asserted Patents by virtue of Infineon Americas’ 

significant investments in plant and equipment, significant employment of labor or capital, and 

substantial investments in exploitation of each of the Asserted Patents through engineering and 

research and development.  

122. Infineon has multiple facilities in the United States, including locations in El 

Segundo, California, Chandler, Arizona., and Richardson, Texas These facilities contain expensive 

laboratory equipment used for the research, development, design, testing, support, and/or other 

engineering work conducted by Infineon employees and relating to the Domestic Industry 

Products, as well as next generation products that incorporate the same or similar technologies. 

See Exhibit 47C (Confidential Declaration of Chris Zegarelli). Additional details regarding 

Infineon’s research, development, design, testing, support, and/or other engineering work 

conducted at these facilities are provided in the Confidential Declaration of Chris Zegarelli, 
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attached as Confidential Exhibit 47C. Infineon has made and continues to make substantial 

investments in these facilities, including at least in the form of rent, utilities, and other operating 

expenses. Details regarding these investments are provided in the Confidential Declaration of 

Chris Zegarelli, attached as Confidential Exhibit 47C.  

123. Infineon has made and continues to make significant investments in United States 

labor and capital with respect to the articles protected by each of the Asserted Patents. As of the 

date of this Complaint, Infineon employs over 35 employees in the United States who work on 

research, development, design, testing, support, and/or other engineering activities related to the 

IG and GS products, as well as next generation products that incorporate the same or similar 

technologies. Additional details regarding Infineon’s investments in labor and capital are provided 

in the Declaration of Chris Zegarelli, attached as Confidential Exhibit 47C.  

VIII. LICENSEES 

124. As required under Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(iii), a list of the known entities 

that may have rights in one or more of the Asserted Patents is attached to the Complaint as 

Confidential Exhibit 67C.  

IX. RELATED LITIGATION 

125. Infineon filed a complaint against Innoscience Suzhou, Innoscience Zhuhai, and 

Innoscience America in the Northern District of California on March 13, 2024. In the complaint 

in Infineon Technologies Austria AG v. Innoscience (Suzhou) Technology Company, Ltd., et al., 

Case No. 3:24-cv-01553 (N.D. Cal.) (previously identified herein as the “N.D. California District 

Court Case”), Infineon asserted the ’481 Patent against Innoscience Suzhou, Innoscience Zhuhai, 

and Innoscience America. On July 23, 2024, Infineon filed an amended complaint in the N.D. 

California District Court Case, asserting all of the Asserted Patents in this complaint. 
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126. Innoscience America, Inc. filed a request for inter partes review of the ’481 Patent 

on June 14, 2024 (IPR2024-00975).  

127. Infineon has not asserted the Asserted Patents in any other litigation or 

administrative proceeding or participated in any litigation or administrative proceedings involving 

the same subject matter. Infineon nevertheless identifies the following litigation, which relates to 

a foreign counterpart of one of the Asserted Patents.  

128. Infineon Austria filed a complaint against Innoscience Suzhou, Innoscience Suzhou 

Semiconductor, Innoscience Zhuhai, and Innoscience Europe N.V. in the District Court of Munich, 

Germany on June 4, 2024. In the complaint in Landgericht München I [District Court of Munich], 

June 4, 2024, 21 O 6442/24 (Ger.), Infineon asserted German patents DE 10 2017 103 054, DE 10 

2017 100 947 (foreign counterpart to the ’481 Patent), and DE 10 2014 113 465. 

X. REQUESTED RELIEF 

129. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Infineon respectfully requests that U.S. 

International Trade Commission: 

130. Institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to violations based upon the unlawful importation into 

the United States, the sale for importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the United 

States after importation of certain semiconductor devices and products containing the same that 

infringe one or more Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents; 

131. Schedule a hearing on said unlawful acts for the purpose of (i) receiving evidence 

and hearing argument concerning whether there has been a violation of Section 337, and (ii) 

determining that there has been a violation of Section 337; 

132. Issue a permanent limited exclusion order pursuant to Section 337(d) directed to 

products that are manufactured, imported, sold for importation, or sold after importation by or on 
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behalf of Respondents and their subsidiaries, related companies, and agents, excluding from entry 

into the United States certain semiconductor devices and products containing the same that 

infringe, induce infringement of and/or contribute to infringement of one or more Asserted Claims 

of the Asserted Patents;  

133. Issue a permanent cease and desist order or orders pursuant to Section 337(f) 

prohibiting Respondents, and their subsidiaries, related companies, distributors, and agents from 

engaging in unfair acts including, but not limited to, the importation, selling for importation, 

marketing, advertising, testing, evaluating, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution, 

offering for sale, selling, selling after importation, distributing, using, licensing, displaying, 

providing technical support for and/or otherwise transferring within the United States certain 

semiconductor devices and products containing the same that infringe, induce infringement of 

and/or contribute to infringement of one or more claims of the Asserted Patents, and engaging in 

any other commercial activity related to such products in the United States; 

134. Impose a bond on importation and sales of infringing products during the 60-day 

Presidential review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j); and 

135. Grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper under 

the law, based on the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of the Commission. 

  
Date: July 26, 2024 /s/ Gregory F. Corbett  

 

Gregory F. Corbett 
Charles T. Steenburg  
Bryan S. Conley 
Jie Xiang 
Samuel L. Doskocil 
WOLF, GREENFIELD & SACKS, P.C. 
600 Atlantic Avenue 
Boston, MA 02210 
Telephone: 617.646.8000 
Fax: 617.646.8646  
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Elizabeth A. DiMarco 
John W. McGrath 
Suresh S. Rav 
WOLF, GREENFIELD & SACKS, P.C. 
601 Massachusetts Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20001 
Telephone: 202.571.5001  
 
Counsel for Complainants Infineon Technologies 
Austria AG and Infineon Technologies Americas 
Corp. 
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